
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

January 12, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
  1. In Memoriam – 2022 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Annoucements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

2. Jaime Spear:  Employee of the 3rd Quarter - Joel Rodriguez, Water/Sewer Department 
3. Jaime Spear:  Employee of the 4th Quarter - Danielle Bucher, Finance Department 

 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

4. Special City Council Meeting Minutes, December 21, 2022 
5. Minutes, City Council Meeting, December 8, 2022 
6. Attachments to Minutes, December 8, 2022 

 
Consideration of Boards, Commissions and Committee Appointments 

7. Planning Commission - 3 seats open 
Mike Harrell 
Mariah Hay 
Susan Hill (incumbent) 
Julie Livingston 
Jack Long 
Robert Matkowski 
Jeri Monroe 
S. Michelle Nooney 
 

It there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda, other than the public hearings 
please come forward.   

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

8. Variance:  Requesting to disturb wetland buffer - Solomon and Polk - R-1, William 
Christiansen. 

9. Variance: Requesting expansion of setback encroachment – 817 1st Street – 40019 
05001C – Zone R-T – David Toman 

10. Text Amendment: Sec. 7-050 – Tree removal requirements – calculation of trees 
required per lot – City of Tybee Island 

 
Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 

11. Agenda Request: Alcohol License Request Critz Tybee Run Fest-Special Event Beer and 
Wine February 3-4, 2023 

12. Agenda Request: Entertainment License-Zunzi's Operations, LLC dba Zunzibar 
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

13. Budget Amendment approval of budget transfer from 100-00-39-1300 to 350-7564-54-
2500 for $16,225 for parking kiosks and from 100-7564-53-1600 for $11,500 for 
handheld ticket writers. 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

14. Resolution 2023-02:  Chatham County to Superintend Municipal Elections 
15. Resolution 2023-03: Qualifying Officer, Tybee Island Municipal Election 
16. Second Reading:  2023-01, Sec 4-051, Short Term Rentals 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

17. Bubba Hughes:  Development Plans and Agreement for 708 Butler 
18. Bubba Hughes:  Robert Bryson:  Release Agreement 
19. Barry Brown:  Tybee Island Fire Department - Firehouse Multi-Purpose Building 
20. Jay Burke:  Main Street Appreciation for Christmas Initiatives/Polar Plunge Efforts 
21. Monty Parks:  Marine Science Bathrooms and Manual traffic control at Johnny Mercer 

and Highway 80 
22. Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List 
23. Jan LeViner:  Call to Election and Public Notice - Qualifying Notice 

 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 

- Page 2 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 3 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. In Memoriam - 2022

- Page 4 -Item #1.



IN  MEMORIAM  2022 
 

Peter Bannon 
Charlene Barrett 
Tammy Bearden 
Anne Blanco 
Rebecca Bostwick 
Jimmy Burke 
Ron Calloway 
Sonny Colley 
Roger Dodge 
Jimmy Domnitz 
Vivian Dubuc 
Max Dubuq 
Lisa Marie Ecklin 
Franklin Edenfield 
Bob Elderman 
Ted Elders 
Jane Fishman 
Belinda Flanigan 
Bill Foran 
Julia Foster 
Joost Gompels 
Esther Guy 
Barbara Hall 
Robert  Handelman 
Molly  Hannas 
Donna Harley 
Jean Harris 
Laura Heisey 
Bonnie  Hosti 

Henry Jackson 
Cameron Knight 
Joe Lawson 
Meri  Lawson 
Mary Ann Lynn 
Hugh Mahany 
John Majors 
David McCutchen 
Donald McLendon, Sr. 
Genevieve O'Connor 
Chris Padgett 
Melinda Powell 
James Ray 
Helen  Sadowsky 
Frank Schuman, Jr. 
Joseph  Sellers 
Melanie Smith 
Richard Speegle 
Mary Ann Stallings 
Roxann Stone 
Sam Tomlin 
"Mitch" Vilokovitch 
Sherrill Walraven 
Cissy Ward 
Hank Weisman 
Corey White 
Gale  Williams 
Charles Yarber, III 

 

- Page 5 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Special City Council Meeting Minutes, December 21, 2022

- Page 6 -Item #4.



 

City Council Minutes, December 21, 2022 
 
Mayor Sessions called the special meeting to order at 3:30PM, December 21, 2022.  Those 
in attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, and Spec Hosti.  Also attending 
were Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager; Bubba 
Hughes, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Nancy DeVetter and Jay Burke 
were excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
 
Consideration of Resolutions 
Resolution for LOST Proceeds. Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Barry Brown 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 4-0. 

 
 Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
 Certification of Distribution. Mayor Sessions briefly outlined the process and meetings 
with Chatham County during the LOST negations.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  
Barry Brown seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 4-0. 
  

Brian West made a motion to adjourn.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 4-0.     
 
Meeting adjourned at 3:45PM 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 
 

- Page 7 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Minutes, City Council Meeting, December 8, 2022

- Page 8 -Item #5.



City Council Minutes, December 8, 2022 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, October 27, 2022.  Those in 
attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and 
Spec Hosti.  Also attending were Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City 
Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; Jake Saas, Ellis Painter; Jen Amerell, Finance 
Director; George Shaw, Planning and Zoning; Chief Jeremy Kendrick; Chief Tiffany Hayes; 
Peter Gulbronson, DPW; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.   
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance  
 
Mayor Sessions added the following on the Consent Agenda 

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting, October 27, 2022 
 GaDOT Presentation, Workshop, November 14, 2022  
 Minutes:  Special Meeting, November 14, 2022 
 Savannah Chamber, Presentation: Workshop, November 21, 2022.   
 Minutes: Special City Council Meeting:  November 21, 2022 

 Alan Robertson GA Department of Natural Resources Grant:  
o Resolution to accept grant.   
o University of Georgia Back River Project Agreement:  Approve funding 

subject to conditions are being met.   
o DNR Shore Protection Act Permit Application for Structures on the 

Beach:  Approval to proceed 
 HMGP Grant Administration Contract Extension 
 Jennifer Ozer, Public Defender 

 Arnett Muldrow Contract Agreement 
 FY 2022 Review and Final Budget Amendment 
 MRS Building Roof Payment.   

 

Recognitions and Proclamations 
Shawn Gillen approached Mayor and Council.  Dr. Gillen stated it is his pleasure to 
present to you Major Tiffany Hayes as his appointment to Chief, Tybee Island 
Police Department.  He is asking Mayor and Council to ratify this appointment.  Mayor 
Sessions announced there will be a reception on January 13, 2023, 10:00AM, at the Tybee 
Post Theater and everyone is invited to participate.   Spec Hosti made a motion to 
approve the appointment of Major Hayes to Chief, Tybee Island Police Department.  
Barry Brown seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0.   
 
Major Tiffany Hayes introduced Lt. Randolph and asked him to give a brief history of 
the  Starlight Program.  Major Hayes then introduced Diane Ring and Ann Miller and 
asked them to come forward and accept a plaque in recognition of their dedication to the 
Program. 

- Page 9 -Item #5.



 

Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.  Limit 
reports to 10 minutes. 
Clark Alexander, Director, Skidaway Institute of Oceanography approached 
Mayor and Council to give an update on the Dune Monitoring Project.  Dr. Alexander 
stated the main objectives of this project is to measure coastal changes and detail 
predictions of future changes. He continued the shoreline would reach the built dunes in 
about 2.5 years in areas of greatest erosion and retreat; that a single event can remove 
about a normal year’s erosion and ongoing; and quarterly monitoring should be continued 
as longer records provide better estimates of change rates and predictions. Mayor 
Sessions thanked Dr. Alexander for his dedication to Tybee Island.  (His presentation is 
included in the packet, December 8, 2022). 
 
Angela Westerfield, Vice President of Marketing and Communication, Savannah 
Chamber of Commerce, approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Westerfield gave an updated 
on the recent City Council Workshop that was held on November 21, 2022.  The Visit 
Tybee Team is focusing on an open discussion as they are committed to develop 
marketing strategies that target the proper markets for Tybee Island.  Mayor Sessions 
thanked Ms. Westerfield for her dedication to Tybee Island. 
 
Kevin Smith, PE, Thomas & Hutton approached Mayor and Council to give an update 
on the Storm-water Management Plan Delivery.  Mr. Smith explained this was started in 
2020 and was FEMA grant funded.  Mr. Smith continued the project scope was to collect 
existing date; public outreach; GPS Field Survey; Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling and 
Storm-water Master Plan.  Their effort was focused on moving rainwater to the marshes 
to protect the Island.  Mayor pro tem Brown asked if this could be done with underground 
storage.  Mr. Smith confirmed, as there is less resistance for the water to get out.  Mayor 
Sessions then asked Dr. Gillen the status of the Master Plan.  Dr. Gillen stated this is the 
first draft of the Storm-water Management Plan and the first project has been funded.   
 
Alan Robertson approached.  Mr. Robertson stated the 14th Street area, 14th to 15th 
Streets, is the only open area that Tybee Island has where water would be retained by 
using retention tanks.  They would be installed under the parking lot and would be shallow 
but massive.  This is a priority for the south-end.  He continued, the next update is the 
extension of the UGA Grant for the Back River Project.  This project is almost completed 
and a report will be forthcoming.  Mr. Robertson stated they would not be applying for a 
second grant as they feel they need additional information prior to moving forward as 
well as public input.  He continued the entire Storm-water Plan from Thomas and Hutton 
would be posted to the website.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Robertson. 
 
Citizens to be Heard:   
Pat Leiby approached Mayor and Council to outline MLK's Human Rights 
Organization upcoming December and January Programs.  Mayor Sessions 
thanked Ms. Leiby for her dedication to the MLK Committee.   

- Page 10 -Item #5.



Virginia Ward:  Outgoing President, Tybee Post Theater.  Was not able to attend 
but will attend a future meeting.  
Elizabeth Reed approached Mayor and Council to discuss Sea Birds as well as Dogs 
on the Beach.  Ms. Reed stated she is opposed to the proposal for Wagging 
Wednesdays.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Reed for her comments. 
Mariah Hay:  1113 Laurel Avenue WITHDREW HER REQUEST  
Jenny Rutherford approached Mayor and Council to speak to the Easement at 21 
Pulaski Street.  Ms. Rutherford is asking the City to repair the sidewalks and clean the 
area at Pulaski Street.  She also shared her concerns with the signage for beach access 
in that area.  Ms. Rutherford stated she is in favor of Dr. West’s proposal for dogs on the 
beach.  Mayor Sessions recommended this be brought to a City Council workshop for 
discussion.  She thanked Ms. Rutherford for her comments and concerns.   
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda, please come 
forward.  Please limit your comments to 3 - 5 minutes. 
Conner Stille approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Stille read a prepared statement 
opposing Dogs on the Beach.  (Attached) 
Allie Hayser approached Mayor and Council to speak against Dogs on the Beach.  
Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Hayser for her comments.  (Attached) 
Kate Burns approached Mayor and Council to speak in favor of Dogs on the Beach.  
Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Burns for her comments. 
Mark Nathan approached Mayor and Council to speak against allowing Dogs on the 
Beach.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Nathan for his comments.  
Harvey Farrell approached Mayor and Council to speak in favor of Dogs on the Beach. 
Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Farrell for his comments.  
Pat Leiby approached Mayor and Council to recommend doing a short trial to see if 
Dogs on the Beach works.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Leiby for her comments. 
Dan Synder approached Mayor and Council to speak against building a dune crossover 
at 21 Pulaski Street due to public safety concerns.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Synder 
for his comments.   
Sam Shay approached Mayor and Council to speak in favor of Dogs on the Beach.  
Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Shav for his comments. 
Phil Koster, Chatham Emergency Services, approached Mayor and Council to speak 
to concerns on the Island regarding EMS Services.  He is available to work with Chief 
Kendrick for a better understanding of Tybee Island’s needs.  Mayor Sessions thanked 
Mr. Koster for his willingness to work with the City.  
Dee Matkowski approached Mayor and Council to speak against Dogs on the Beach.  
Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Matkowski for her concerns and comments.   
Barbara Hayser approached Mayor and Council and stated dogs are the second most 
disturbance on the beach.  Ms. Hayser is against Dogs on the Beach.  Mayor Sessions 
thanked Ms. Hayser for her comments.   
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Monty Parks seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 

- Page 11 -Item #5.



Public Hearings 
Site Plan Approval with Variance: requesting to remove off street parking -1311 
Butler Ave. -40007 16002 – Zone C-2 – Jim Sheffield.  George Shaw approached Mayor 
and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the applicant is proposing to renovate the building, remove the 
small parking lot in front of the building and make into a seating area.  During the pandemic 
restaurants were allowed have outdoor seating.  The applicant would like to have permanent 
seating in the once small parking lot.  Mr. Shaw stated the small parking was a very dangerous 
parking lot due to the proximity to the street and no turn around area.  Staff (unanimous) and 
Planning Commission (5-1) recommended approval. Mr. Parks asked if Mayor and Council would 
be provided a Site Plan.  Mr. Shaw stated the Site Plan with Variance is included in the packet 
before them.  Robert Portman, Architect for the Petitioner approached Mayor and Council. Mr. 
Portman confirmed the establishment is within 1,000 feet of the 14th Street Parking Lot.  A portion 
of this request is to improve the handicap ramp on the side of the building and to make more 
accessible.  Mr. Portman stated with the approval of this variance, the petitioner would be giving 
three (3) metered parking spaces back to the City.  They are requesting three (3) things; (1) a 
new deck, which will go over the top of the existing parking lot; (2) a new handicap ramp and 
(3) improve the rear of the building.    Roger Huff approached Mayor and Council to speak in 
favor of this request.   Spec Hosti made a motion to approve. Monty Parks seconded.  Those 
voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  Barry 
Brown voting against.  Vote was 5-1 to approve. 
Text Amendment: Land Development Code - Section 4-051. Short-Term Rentals – City 
of Tybee.  Jay Burke recused.  George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw 
stated recently Mayor and Council approved several STR ordinances, which are in the licensing 
section of the Code, Article 34.  As they specifically reference zoning districts, the Attorney is 
recommending they be put in the Land Development Code. Staff and Planning Commission both 
recommended approval unanimously.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Nancy 
DeVetter seconded.  Those voting in favor were Brian West, Nancy DeVetter, Monty Parks, and 
Barry Brown.  Spec Hosti voted against.  Jay Burke recused.  Vote was 4-1 to approve. 
 
Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol 
License.  Spec Hosti recused.  Mr. Hughes recommended Mayor and Council vote on each 
separately, i.e., Alcohol and Entertainment renewals.   He continued the applications have been 
included in the packet before them this evening.  If there are questions or concerns regarding an 
individual request that application can be removed and addressed separately.  If there are none, 
then all can be approved at one time.  Mr. Parks asked if there have been any alcohol related 
violations for any applicant.  Dr. Gillen stated he is not aware of any violations  that would affect 
their license.  Mr. Hughes stated he did review the applications and did not see any violations.   
Agenda Request for 2023 Alcohol License Renewals.  Monty Parks made a motion to 
approve the licenses as listed in the packet before them.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
Agenda Request: 2023 Entertainment License Renewals.  Mayor pro tem Brown asked 
Dr. Gillen the outcome of his meeting with the establishments in the C-2 areas where 
entertainment is outside after midnight.  Dr. Gillen responded he spoke with Eric Thomas, Huc-
a-poos, and they have added soundproofing to reduce noise. Dr. Gillen continued, it is his intent 
to schedule a workshop with the business owners and will bring information back to Mayor and 
Council.  Mayor Sessions asked Dr. Gillen if he has spoken to the businesses with entertainment 
after midnight.  Mr. Hughes stated Mayor and Council could direct Dr. Gillen to communicate with 
the businesses.  He continued, Mayor and Council have the authority per the ordinance to set 
restrictions on the businesses.  Eric Thomas approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Thomas stated 

- Page 12 -Item #5.



he and Dr. Gillen have had open conversations regarding the noise from Huc-a-poos and he feels 
they are moving forward in a positive manner.  Mayor Sessions agrees with a workshop moving 
forward.  Mr. Parks recommended moving forward with a vote and feels it is fair to address 
individual businesses at a workshop.   Brian West made a motion to approve the Entertainment 
Licenses as listed in the packet.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0.   
Agenda Request: Zunzi's Operations LLC dba Zunzibar Alcohol License Request: 
Liquor/Beer/Wine/Sunday Sales-consumption on premises only.  Monty Parks made 
a motion to approve.  Barry Brown seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Spec Hosti returned. 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
Motorola Solutions, Inc. Communications System Lease-Purchase Agreement, 
$1,485,907.  Mayor Sessions stated this is for the 911 System, which is in need of being 
upgraded.  Dr. Gillen confirmed funding would be in the FY24 budget.  The continued, this was 
built into the CIP for next budget cycle and Council has directed him to accelerate the process 
and what is before them tonight is the successful bidder.  It is a five (5) year lease and will be 
built into the FY24 budget.  Spec Hosti asked if this is a sole source contract.  Assistant Chief 
Hayes approached Mayor and Council.  Major Hayes confirmed this is a sole source contract as 
the company offers the radios, 911 software and all equipment needed. Mr. Parks stated the main 
reason he is supporting this purchase is to keep Tybee Island independent from Chatham County 
with the 911 service.  Monty Parks made a motion to accept as presented subject to Attorney 
review.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
Second Reading:  2022-14, Sec 2-263. Beach Task Force - Disband and Repeal.  
Mayor Sessions gave a brief history of the Beach Task Force to include their 
accomplishments.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Nancy DeVetter 
seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, and Spec 
Hosti.  Voting against were Barry Brown and Jay Burke.  Motion to approve, 4-2. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Bubba Hughes 

 Resolution 2022-09.  Adoption-Enforcement of Minimum Fire Safety 
Standards.  Jake Saas approached Mayor and Council. Mr. Saas stated what is before 
them is a Resolution for them to determine if they would like to have a local enforcement 
of the Minimum Fire Standards set by the State.  With approval, there will be ordinances 
and administrative duties.  Mr. Parks recommended sending the Resolution to the Public 
Safety Committee for their discussion and review, as he would like additional details 
regarding proposed ordinances.  Mayor pro tem Brown expressed his concerns with the 
local businesses and citations as many are older businesses.  Chief Kendrick approached 
Mayor and Council.  Chief Kendrick stated when there is a new business on Tybee Island, 
Chatham Council comes one (1) time to inspect.  Once the inspection is complete, a permit 
is issued and no further inspections take place.  It is his recommendation, Tybee Island 
do annual inspections to ensure the establishments are maintaining the minimum 
Standard of Safety for their business.  He confirmed, they are not trying to hurt the 
businesses, just to ensure they are meeting the minimum safety requirements.  Mr. Parks 
stated he did an Open Records Request regarding inspections.  The only inspections that 

- Page 13 -Item #5.



were done are on new businesses.  Dr. Gillen stated if he understands the Resolution 
correctly, it only means Mayor and Council are sending this to the Public Safety Committee 
for their review and recommendations.  Mr. Parks has concerns if the Resolution is signed 
that the City would be held liable if a fire occurs.  Mr. Saas stated the Resolution keeps 
everything as it is currently with no liability to the City and puts the City on the path 
moving forward.  Mr. Hughes stated the adoption of Title 25 to be enforced as directed 
by the City Manager as he has the responsibility for the inspections and what the 
requirements are.  There was a brief discussion regarding additional funding for staffing.  
Chief Kendrick stated as there is no Staff currently in place and he will to do inspections.  
Barry Brown made a motion to move forward.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0. 

 Confirmation/Clarification, 2022-04/2022-11 regarding dates. Mr. Hughes 
explained this is a zoning ordinance where there was confusion regarding the number of 
the ordinance.  He continued, there was an error in dating the ordinance, October 10, 
2022, instead of October 13, 2022 as that is when the meeting was held where there was 
a second reading of the ordinance.  Also, the effective date for Sec 3 and 4 were not 
documented in the ordinance, therefore the document before them has the correct date 
of October 13, 2022 as well as the effective date of May 1, 2023 for Sec 3 and 4.  He is 
asking Mayor and Council to confirm this is the correct document.   Monty Parks stated 
he endorses the reading and interpretation as presented by Mr. Hughes and made a 
motion to accept the changes as presented.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Voting in favor 
were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Barry Brown and Jay Burke.  Voting 
against was Spec Hosti.  Vote was 5-1 to approve. 

 Ambulance Agreement with Chatham County.  Mayor pro tem Brown shared his 
concerns regarding the response times from Chatham EMS as it is currently not 
acceptable.  Mayor Sessions stated Dr. Gillen has a meeting scheduled with the County 
Manager to discuss this as well as other issues.  Dr. Gillen stated this topic was discussed 
at the Public Safety Committee where four options were discussed as presented by Chief 
Kendrick (as outlined in the packet).  He discussed each option and recommended Option 
2 moving forward.  Mayor pro tem Brown recommended moving forward with discussions 
with Chatham County.  Ms. DeVetter asked for clarification of personnel costs for each 
option listed.  She asked if conversations have been held with Chatham County EMS.  Dr. 
Gillen stated no, as he wanted to determine the personnel costs.  Mr. Hosti confirmed 
discussions have not been held with Chatham County regarding response times.  Dr. Gillen 
confirmed.  Ms. DeVetter asked Chief Kendrick the number of instances Chatham County 
was not able to respond to a medical call.  Chief Kendrick stated there have been several 
issues where Chatham County did not have a unit available due to high call volume.   
Monty Parks made a motion for the City Manager to explore Option 2 which is a quick 
response vehicle and appropriate Staff to handle current volume.  Barry Brown 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 

 Wagging Winter Wednesday.  Dr. West stated the topic of dogs on the beach comes 
up frequently, as people are passionate to be able to spend time with their pet on the 
beach.  This Program that is before them tonight is a well thought out program and well 
considered effort to make something happen for those who love their pets. The 
recommendation is for Wednesday’s only as it is in the middle of the week and less busy.  
The location would be on the south-end of the beach as it is less populated during the 
winter months.  Dr. West stated he does have compassion and concerns for the shore 
birds. He is not asking for an ordinance but to have an experiment to see how it works.  
Ms. DeVetter stated she would support a limited trial on a specific area to see how it 

- Page 14 -Item #5.



 

works.  Mr. Hosti is in agreement with Ms. DeVetter.  SGT Hattrich approached Mayor and 
Council to discuss the enforcement challenges with dogs on the beach on specific days 
and in limited areas.  After a lengthly discussion, Mr. Parks recommended this come back 
for further discussion after conversations are held with Code Enforcement, City Manager 
(signage) and DNR.   Dr. West thanked Mayor and Council for the discussion and will 
come back with further information.  NO ACTION TAKEN.   

 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

 PC Minutes October 17, 2022 
 PC Minutes November 14, 2022 

 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss litigation and 
real estate. Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to return to regular session.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Brian West made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 11:45PM 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 
 

- Page 15 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Attachments to Minutes, December 8, 2022

- Page 16 -Item #6.



- Page 17 -Item #6.



- Page 18 -Item #6.



- Page 19 -Item #6.



- Page 20 -Item #6.



- Page 21 -Item #6.



- Page 22 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Planning Commission - 3 seats open

Mike Harrell

Mariah Hay

Susan Hill (incumbent)

Julie Livingston

Jack Long

Robert Matkowski

Jeri Monroe

S. Michelle Nooney

- Page 23 -Item #7.



- Page 24 -Item #7.



- Page 25 -Item #7.



- Page 26 -Item #7.



CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND
P.O. Box 2749   ·   403 Butler Ave.

Tybee Island, GA 31328
Phone (912) 786-4573   ·   Fax (912) 786-5737

www.cityoftybee.org

PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER
APPLICATION PACKET

Thank you for your interest in serving on the Planning Commission of the City of
Tybee Island.

The Planning Commission makes formal recommendations to the Mayor and the
City Council on Land Development Code petitions and issues. The Planning
Commission is a citizen board appointed by the Mayor and the City Council. It is
composed of six voting members and a chairperson who votes only in the event of
a tie. Terms are staggered and are for two years, beginning on February 1.
Members must be residents within the city limits of Tybee Island. Planning
Commission members are not compensated by the City for their service.

The Planning Commission meets at City Hall once a month at 6:30 p.m. The dates
of meetings for the current calendar year are posted at the City’s website at
www.cityoftybee.org.

Attached is Article 11 of the Land Development Code and the Planning
Commission Rules of Procedure which will provide information about the
Planning Commission. It may also be useful to review the minutes of past Planning
Commission meetings which are posted at the City’s website.

To apply for a Planning Commission opening, you must complete the attached
form and submit it with your resume to the Clerk of Council before the deadline
date.

20211206/jrl
- Page 27 -Item #7.



CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND
P.O. Box 2749   ·   403 Butler Ave.

Tybee Island, GA 31328
Phone (912) 786-4573   ·   Fax (912) 786-5737

PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER
APPLICATION QUESTIONS

(applications will not be processed without completion of these questions)

1. Why do you want to be a member of the Tybee Island Planning Commission?

I care deeply about our community, and that starts with residents who take an active role in
both keeping theirs healthy and planning for the future. By participating in the planning
commission, I could help our community make decisions which support the health of the
Tybee community now, and in the future.

2. What do you believe to be the most important aspect of the role that a Planning
Commissioner plays for the community and the City?

A Planning Commissioner is charged with providing thoughtful and informed
recommendations so that the city council can make land development decisions that promote
the health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity and general welfare of the city and
its residents.

3. Explain your understanding of the City of Tybee Island’s Land Development Code.

As I understand it, the land development code governs the terms of land use here on Tybee.
This code is the foundation against which zoning, variances, appeals, petitions, subdivisions,
Master Plan implementations, and proposed changes to said code would first be weighed.

4. Briefly explain a land use decision that interested you. Share your observations about the
process and the decision.

The topic of STVRs has been fairly pressing for many cities globally, including our very own
Tybee. I've appreciated the discourse, the experts consulted, and the re-visiting of the original
intent for land use as these decisions with weighty consequences were considered and made.

5. Where do you see the City of Tybee Island in ten (10) years?

In ten years, my hope is that Tybee has a healthy community of full time multi-generational residents,
thriving tourism, and local businesses that thrive supporting both.

20211206/jrl
- Page 28 -Item #7.



6. In your own words, please give your personal opinion as to the meaning of “conflict of
interest.”

A conflict of interest is a situation in which a person is in a position to derive personal benefit from
actions or decisions made in their official capacity.

7. What would consider to be the biggest accomplishment that the Planning Commission has
made over the last five (5) years?

I returned to the area in 2020 after working in other states for the past 8 years, so
unfortunately I have not been here to help celebrate the accomplishments of the the
commission. But I look forward to learning more about this from other members should I be
selected to serve.

8. If you could change one thing about the Planning Commission, what would that be? Please
explain the benefits that would come about as a result of the proposed change.

Like question 7, because I only recently returned to the area in 2020, I don't have enough information
to form an opinion on things I would like to see changed on the Planning Commission.

Signature: Maria� Ha�
Today’s Date ( Jan 5, 2023 )

Printed Name  ( Mariah Hay )

Address:
1111 Laurel Ave
Tybee Island, GA 31328

Telephone: 717-413-5213

Email: mariahhay@gmail.com

20211206/jrl
- Page 29 -Item #7.



LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE

ARTICLE 11. PLANNING COMMISSION

Sec. 11-010. Creation and purposes.
There is created a planning commission for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals, convenience, order,
prosperity and general welfare, and to provide for the orderly development of the city.

Sec. 11-020. Name.
The name of the planning commission shall be "The Tybee Island Municipal Planning Commission" herein referred
to as the "planning commission".

Sec. 11-030. Membership.
The planning commission shall consist of seven (7) members who shall be residents within the city limits of Tybee
Island, appointed by the governing body, with a chair voting only in the event of a tie.

Sec. 11-040. Terms of office.
Members of the planning commission shall be appointed by the mayor and council for two year staggered terms of
office.

Sec. 11-050. Filling vacancies.
A vacancy in the membership of the planning commission shall be filled in the same manner as an original
appointment.

Sec. 11-060. Removal of members.
The mayor and council may remove any member of the planning commission for cause after written notice at any
regularly scheduled city council meeting. A recommendation for removal from office can be requested by a
concurrence of four members of planning commission and the chair of the planning commission for violation of the
attendance requirements as set forth in the rules of procedure as adopted by the Tybee Island Planning Commission.

Sec. 11-070. Compensation.
Compensation, if any, to any member of the planning commission shall be determined by the mayor and council.

Sec. 11-080. Chair and vice-chair.
The planning commission shall elect one of its appointed members to serve as chair, and another as vice-chair. They
shall serve for a period of one year, or until successors are elected.

Sec. 11-090. Secretary.
The secretary to the planning commission shall be the zoning administrator. In his or her absence, the planning
commission may appoint an employee of the city or a member of the planning commission.

Sec. 11-100. Meetings.
(A)   The planning commission shall meet in a regular session each month no later than sixteen days prior to the first
scheduled city council meeting of the following month at city hall at 7:00 p.m. Special meetings may be held as
deemed necessary by the chair or a majority of the members or at the request of the mayor or council with 48 hours
notice to said members.
(B)   The planning commission shall conduct its business under rules approved by the mayor and council. It shall
keep a record of its proceedings which shall be a public record.

Sec. 11-110. Duties.
The planning commission shall perform all of the following duties:
(A) Duties and responsibilities assigned by the mayor and council.
(B) Make formal recommendations to the city council on all petitions for variances from the city's technical codes.
(C) Make formal recommendations to the city council on all petitions and the meeting of ordinance requirements
for zoning map amendments, subdivisions, and/or amendments to the text of this Land Development Code,
specifically including but not limited to special assignments requested by the governing body, the city code
enforcement department, city engineers.
(D) Land use planning. The planning commission shall make careful surveys and studies periodically in order to
update the city's master plan and Land Development Codes. Consideration shall be given to existing conditions,
probable future development, and the promotion of public health, safety, prosperity, economics development,
efficiency and the general welfare as evidenced by the quality of life in the community.

20211206/jrl
- Page 30 -Item #7.



RULES OF PROCEDURE
PLANNING COMMISSION

1. GENERAL – The City of Tybee Island Planning Commission shall be governed by terms of the Georgia
General Planning and Enabling Act of 1957, as amended, and other special state laws, related to city planning.

2. MEMBERS, OFFICERS AND DUTIES OF SAME – The Planning Commission shall consist of seven (7)
members appointed by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island. Appointments shall be made at the
first scheduled City Council meeting in January. The terms of office for members of the Planning Commission
shall be two (2) year staggered terms.

A. CHAIR – The term of office shall be for a period of one (1) year with the election taking place at the first
meeting after the appointments are made by Mayor and Council. The Chair will be allowed to vote only in
the event of a tie vote. The Chair shall decide all points of order and procedure using Robert’s Rules of
Order. The Chair may appoint one or more members to investigate and report on matters which shall come
before the Planning Commission.

B. VICE-CHAIR – A Vice-Chair shall be elected from the members of the Planning Commission. The term of
office shall be for one (1) year, with election taking place at the first meeting after the appointments are
made by Mayor and Council. The Vice-Chair shall act as Chair in the absence of the Chair.

C. SECRETARY – The Secretary to the Planning Commission shall be the Zoning Administrator or his/her
designee.

3. REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION – Regular meetings of the Planning
Commission shall be held no later than sixteen (16) days prior to the regularly scheduled City Council meeting
on Monday evenings at 6:30 p.m. at City Hall. Planning Commission packets, prepared by the Zoning
Administrator, will be available for pickup by the members of the Planning Commission on the Friday one week
preceding the Planning Commission meeting. Any packets not picked up will be distributed at the Planning
Commission meeting.

SPECIAL MEETINGS – Special meetings of the Planning Commission may be called at any time deemed
necessary by the Chair, or a majority of the members, or at the request of Mayor and Council, provided
however, that 48 hours notice of time and location of such meeting shall be given to each member. The 48 hour
notice requirement may be waived by an action of not less than four (4) members of the Planning Commission.
Said notice of the special meeting shall be posted at City Hall, stating the place, time and purpose of the special
meeting and no other business may be conducted other than that which is posted.

4. REQUESTS FOR ZONING ACTIONS – It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to complete and submit
an application form and required documentation to the Zoning Administrator in writing by the first day of the
month prior to the next Planning Commission meeting. Failure of the applicant to supply complete
documentation and meet the requirements of the ordinances will result in the application being rejected and not
considered. Applicant will initial on the application form each requirement as stated. If the first day of the
month falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the cutoff date shall be the first working day after. It shall be the
responsibility of the petitioner to supply sufficient information to the Planning Commission and supporting
documentation for the Commission to make a fair and reasonable decision. The petitioner has the right to
present further documentation at the Planning Commission meeting to substantiate his request.

5. COPIES OF PLATS AND/OR DRAWINGS – If the plats or drawings are larger in size than 11 inches, the
applicant will supply a minimum of thirteen (13) copies.

20211206/jrl
- Page 31 -Item #7.



6. PUBLIC HEARINGS – All requests for action by the Tybee Island Planning Commission are governed by the
Zoning Procedures Act. The request for zoning action shall be advertised in the Savannah Morning News at
least 15 days but not more than 45 days prior to the Public Hearing before Mayor and Council. A sign shall be
posted on the property stating the action requested, current zoning if a zoning change is requested, and date,
time and place of all hearings. Adjacent property owners shall be notified when possible. Failure to receive
notice shall not affect the validity of any zoning action. This procedure is a supplement to the legally required
notification process.

7. ORDER OF BUSINESS – All meetings shall be open to the public and governed by the Sunshine Laws of the
State of Georgia. Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the meetings. The order of business for regular meetings
of the Tybee Island Planning Commission shall be:

A. Call to Order
B. Roll Call
C. Approval of Minutes
D. Disclosures
E. Visitors
F. Old Business
G. New Business
H. Announcements
I. Adjournment

The proposed zoning action will be read by the Chair. A written report will be submitted by the Zoning
Administrator outlining the petition, variance requested and compliance. The Zoning Administrator shall
present the petition and answer any questions asked by the Planning Commission. Members of the Planning
Commission may question the petitioner following the presentation by the Zoning Administrator. The
committee shall be empowered to request of the applicants for action by the Commission any additional
information that they may need for their reports. The Chair will then ask for public input. The petitioner shall be
allowed up to ten (10) minutes to address the zoning decision under consideration. This time limit can be
waived by a two-thirds vote of the members present prior to or at the time of the introduction of the proposed
zoning action. Each speaker shall speak only to the merits of the proposed action under consideration and shall
only address members of the Planning Commission. Each speaker and/or member of the Planning Commission
shall refrain from personal attacks on any other speaker, member of the Planning Commission, staff, or
petitioner. Each speaker shall further refrain from any discussion of facts or opinions not relevant to the
proposed zoning action under consideration. The Chair may limit or refuse a speaker the right to continue if the
speaker, after first being cautioned, continues to violate this section.

8. PERTINENCE – Any item before the Planning Commission relevant to matters of zoning, variances, appeals,
petitions, subdivisions, Master Plan implementations, and code changes shall not be voted upon without first
considering the pertinence of the matter with reference to the zoning map, Master Plan, Code of Ordinances,
and appropriate documents and plans. Commission members and all petitioners and other speakers shall remain
germane to the matter on hand, shall not engage in personalities or invectives, and shall not repeat unless so
requested.

9. REPORTS TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL – The Chair shall file with the Secretary no later than the
Thursday following the Tuesday regular meeting a Planning Commission determination sheet for each petition
heard during the Planning Commission meeting. These sheets shall be prepared by the Zoning Administrator
and shall state the petitioner’s name, address, request, and the recommendation of the Planning Commission for
approval, denial, table for further information, or no action taken. The findings of fact shall reflect the vote by
Planning Commission on each petition. The Zoning Administrator shall attend City Council meetings to answer
any questions pertaining to the recommendations submitted. If the Zoning Administrator were unable to present
a petition at a City Council meeting, the Chair or his/her designee would present.

10. ATTENDANCE – A member who fails to attend two (2) consecutive regular meetings or four (4) regular
meetings of the Planning Commission in a one (1) year period, (February to last regular meeting of January)
without prior notice to the Secretary and/or Chair, shall either resign or become subject to a recommendation to
Mayor and Council for dismissal from the Planning Commission. The Chair, with the concurrence of three (3)

20211206/jrl
- Page 32 -Item #7.



members, may recommend to Mayor and Council that the vacancy be declared and that the vacant position be
filled by appointment.

11. QUORUM – A quorum shall consist of four (4) members. In the event that a quorum is not present at the
regular meeting, the members present may set a date and time for a special meeting to hear the petitions on the
agenda.

12. VOTING – Voting takes place on each petition. Majority vote decides the motion. If a member recuses from
voting, the reason for recusing shall be stated and become a part of the minutes. An abstention shall be counted
as an affirmative vote. The Chair shall only vote in the event of a tie vote. Votes shall be recorded and included
in the minutes.

13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST – If a member of the Planning Commission has a direct financial interest in the
property, owner, member of immediate family of petitioner, or a 10% interest in a business or corporation
requesting a change in zoning for a property, or receive any compensation for aiding the petitioner prepare or
document the petition, that member shall disclose same at any hearing before the petition is heard; and it shall
be deemed a conflict of interest and that member shall excuse himself/herself from all discussion and leave the
dais during such discussion.

14. FINANCIAL CAMPAIGN DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS – If a petition for rezoning a property is before
the Planning Commission, any member who has received campaign contributions or gifts in the previous two
(2) years from the petitioner or his attorney in the aggregate amount of $250.00 or more shall disclose in writing
said contributions.

15. ADVISORS – Any planning staff or other advisors to the Planning Commission upon request shall be
encouraged to advise all members regarding the technical aspects of matters for consideration before the
Commission. Staff shall also be available to the citizens to answer questions concerning items before the
Commission. The Chair may request that the Secretary or any ad hoc committees prepare any special reports
and publish same for the general public.

16. AMENDMENTS – These Rules of Procedure may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the
Planning Commission by a majority of affirmative votes of not less than four (4) members, provided that such
amendment(s) shall have been presented to all members in writing at least five (5) days prior to the meeting that
the vote is taken.

20211206/jrl
- Page 33 -Item #7.



amended 12/03/2008

20211206/jrl
- Page 34 -Item #7.



Mariah Hay
https://www.linkedin.com/in/mariahhay LinkedIn
mariahhay@gmail.com email
@mariahhay twitter
(+01) 717.413.5213 mobile

Summary
As a thought leader in digital product development and human-centered design, I enjoy
building agile technology organizations that align around flow efficiency and place delivering
value to the user at the center of everything they build. My experience with product and
engineering teams serving high-level stakeholders reflects my personal goals of directing
business through product design excellence from the ground up.

Professional Experiences
Help Scout
CXO (Chief Experience Officer), Executive Leadership Team
April 2021 - January 2023
Greater Salt Lake City Area
Leads Global Engineering, Product, and Design (~40% of the current company) in the creation and
maintenance of the Help Scout SaaS product portfolio, 20% conversion, 56 NPS and over 85K paying
users.

Help Scout
VP of Product, Executive Leadership Team
May 2020 - April 2021
Greater Salt Lake City Area
Executive leader over Product organization, collaborating on company direction for market acquisition and
expansion, working with Sales and Marketing to build go to market motion, and partnering closely with
Design and Engineering to enable healthy cross functional teams who are strategically aligned to deliver
continuous customer value and execute against company direction.

Skills Matter
Advising CXO
September 2021 - Current
Advisory Board
September 2020 - Current
Austin, TX

Pluralsight
SVP, Head of Practices

- Page 35 -Item #7.

https://www.linkedin.com/in/mariahhay/
mailto:mariahhay@gmail.com


March 2019 - May 2020
Greater Salt Lake City Area
Leads Engineering, Product Management, Product Design, Data Science, Machine Learning, and
Instructional Design, with a functional leadership teams and an organization of principal practitioners that
govern and support how 11 business units and 50+ teams build product in a lean, secure, flow-efficient,
human centered way. Designed and implemented the current org structure. Increased capacity to hire by
150% in the first quarter post reorg. Reduced onboarding time from 3 months to 3 weeks. Increased focus
on delivering to strategic OKRs through team and leadership alignment.

Pluralsight
VP of Product
December 2015 - February 2019
Greater Salt Lake City Area
Lead the product-side integration of three acquired companies, growing the organization from 8 to nearly
40 cross-functional teams in three years, with revenue growth from 83M to 300M. Created product team
hiring practices that increased gender and underrepresented minorities from 4% to 47%. Lead nine product
areas with domestic and international teams with 2% attrition rate.

Savannah College of Art and Design
Professor of Design Management, Graduate Program
November 2011 - August 2016
Savannah, GA
Directed graduate coursework focused on interdisciplinary collaboration and the integration of tangible
design thinking in all levels of strategy, planning and management. Driving innovation and communicating
the role of design in business - key components in creating new enterprise, developing new products and
stimulating the investor community - are at the core of graduate students' learning objectives. For course
descriptions see “Academia” section of CV.

Universal Mind
Director of User Experience
December 2015 - February 2019
Greater Salt Lake City Area
Established a new office and digital development practice in Dallas. Built a core local team of
cross-functional product and engineering professionals. Provide practice oversight and governance with a
keen focus on project scope and execution. Lent thought leadership to internal structuring, team makeup,
and role definitions. Contributed domain knowledge expertise in education, healthcare, and SAFe
application to UX and innovation practices.

AMC Health
Director of User Experience
October 2014 - June 2015
Greater New York City Area
Built the product practice from the ground up, centered around Scale Agile (SAFe) in partnership with
engineering. Implemented user centered design research practices that informed product development at
the team, program and portfolio levels. Defined digital strategy for front end product design for web, tablet

- Page 36 -Item #7.



and mobile to meet commercial, government, and clinical trial needs. Implemented usability testing to
ensure offering met and exceeded the needs of users including patients, nurses, doctors and other
caregivers.

Vizient (formerly VHA)
Design Manager, Innovation Practices Group
October 2012 - November 2014
Dallas / Fort Worth Area
Drove identification of user insights through research based synthesis to develop concepts for new
business offerings with a keen interest in transformational innovations 3-4 years out. Design and facilitate
innovation workshops specifically tailored to engage and utilize multi-disciplinary groups during the
concept, prototype, and pilot phases of our initiatives. Capture and communicate complex systems in
written and visual documentation.

BFG Communications
Interactive Project Manager
March 2012 – September 2012
Savannah, GA
Managed conception to execution of interactive online and social media advertising programs. Oversaw all
aspects of strategy, design, content, information architecture, UX, development, testing, QA, launch, and
monitoring. Clarify deliverables, manage timelines and set resource expectations.

Kin Valley
Product Manager and Interaction Designer
August 2011 – February 2012
Savannah, GA
Drove user-centered interactive design to build a family friendly social-media that is informed by user
research, iterative design, and game psychology. Worked with design and development to generate
functional UX specifications, manage project timelines and product cycle. Strategized future product
offerings, analyze product against user segmentation groups and administer asset testing for future target
markets and product direction.

Savannah College of Art and Design
eLearning Course Development
September 2010 - December 2011
Savannah, GA
Developed course content for SCAD Master’s level online Design Management Program, working with both
the Design Management Department and the eLearning Department to understand the student user
experience in an online environment, and create content that parallels the on-ground course experience
specifically tailored for eLearning. For course descriptions see “Academia” section of CV.

Savannah College of Art and Design
Graduate Academic Advisor
September 2010 – August 2011
Savannah, GA

- Page 37 -Item #7.



Provided cohesion to the academic progress of graduate students, making judgments regarding
educational path and coursework selection. Provided guidance in financial and academic decision making.

Savannah College of Art and Design
Coordinator of Graduate Activities
April 2009 – August 2010
Savannah, GA
Managed the Distinguished Faculty Program and serve as the Fulbright liaison officer for the university.
Coordinate academic and nonacademic activities specifically tailored for graduate students. Recruited
prominent visiting professors to hold workshops, seminars, small group discussions, lectures, exhibitions or
other activities that would give graduate students exposure to world-class talent, networking or career
opportunities, and to academic topics.

Briggs & Riley
Product Development Coordinator
November 2007 – January 2009
Greater New York City Area
Drove physical product development design and manufacturing, with both soft and hard goods. Conducted
contextual research, developed concepts and drove production domestically and in Asia. Managed
product timelines, roadmaps, status reports, project calendar and sample reports. Compiled, tracked and
communicated results from product line reviews including end of life replacements, running changes,
revisions and PO Start Dates. Coordinated with overseas agents, factories and suppliers to meet product
introduction timelines. Developed and maintained a comprehensive specification book for every line.
Compiled and tracked project costs and payment for tooling, molds and prototypes.

St. Joseph/Candler Hospital
Design Research Lead
August 2006 – March 2007
Savannah, GA
Lead a design and research team with Savannah College of Art and Design to understand and redesign
the patient experience in the Day Surgery Unit for St. Joseph/Candler.

Georgia Regional Hospital at Savannah
Director of Communications
February 2005 – November 2007
Savannah, GA
Directed the Communications Department, Volunteer Services, and the hospital donations center. Worked
with Savannah College of Art and Design to lead two separate clinical facilities re-design projects. Worked
with teams of staff and graduate students, conducting extensive contextual research to re-design facilities
to better serve the needs of patients and staff. The facility re-design for Unit 6 was nominated by the
Department of Human Resources for the State of Georgia with an “Innovative Healthcare Work” award.

Georgia Regional Hospital at Savannah
Communications Manager
September 2004 – January 2005

- Page 38 -Item #7.



Savannah, GA
Supported the Communications Department, Volunteer Services, and the hospital donations center.

Education

Savannah College of Art and Design
Masters of Fine Art, Industrial Design (2009)
Design and Our Health: The Link Between Comfort, Aesthetics, and Healing, nominated as Outstanding
Industrial Design Departmental Thesis
Graduated with Honors, Magna Cum Laude

College of Charleston
Bachelors of Art, Studio Art / Arts Management (2004)
Minor in Arts Management with an emphasis on non-profit business management
Fellowship Recipient
Graduated with Honors, Cum Laude

Camberwell College of Art, London Institute
Accredited Coursework Toward Awarded BA
15 Credit Hours

Millersville University
Accredited Coursework Toward Awarded BA
6 Credit Hours

Community

Co-Founder and Board Member, Product Hive (501c3)
September 2016 - January 2022
Greater Salt Lake City Area

Industry Board Member, Women Tech Council
July 2017 - May 2020
Greater Salt Lake City Area

Organizer and Salt Lake City Chapter Founder, Ladies that UX
February 2016 - Jan 2019
Greater Salt Lake City Area

Organizer and Dallas Chapter Founder, Ladies that UX
February 2016 - Jan 2019
Greater Dallas / Fort Worth Area

- Page 39 -Item #7.



Dallas Host and Chapter Founder, Creative Mornings
August 2015 - January 2016
Greater Dallas / Fort Worth Area

Interaction Design Association (IxDA)
2012 - Current, Member

Industrial Design Society of America (IDSA)
2005 - 2014 Member
2013 - 2015 Board Nominations Committee Member
2014 IDSA International Conference Planning Committee Member

Select Honors
Excellence in Product Award, 2017
Women Tech Awards
http://www.womentechcouncil.com/awards/mariah-hay/

Fast Pitch Competition Winner in Faculty Category, 2011
Georgia Southern University, Center for Entrepreneurial Learning and Leadership

Scholarship Gala Scholarship Recipient, 2007
Savannah College of Art and Design

Nominee for Innovative Healthcare Work Award, Unit 6 Redesign Project, 2006
Department of Human Resources, State of Georgia

Presentations, Public Appearances and Publications

Select Presentations and Public Appearances
Workshop Facilitator - Leadership 101: How to Find and Maintain Healthy Teams
Front Workshop Conference, Salt Lake City, UT, November 2022

Keynote - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
VMware SHAPE, Remote, October 2022

Guest Lecturer - Service Design Research Tactics
Savannah College of Art and Design, Remote, September 2022

- Page 40 -Item #7.

http://www.womentechcouncil.com/awards/mariah-hay/


Podcast Guest - Product Chats: Exploring Human-Centered Design With Mariah Hay of Help
Scout
May, 2022
Apple:
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/exploring-human-centered-design-with-mariah-hay-of/id162090778
9?i=1000562225295
Spotify: https://open.spotify.com/episode/1QNZtjTeafZAdyTnVhVqss
Youtube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zojYppRToQ8
Podcast Page: https://productchats.canny.io/exploring-human-centered-design/

Podcast Guest - #2Inspire: Building and Growing Digital Product
May, 2022
https://bit.ly/3KA8Rmf

Podcast Guest - Without a Roadmap: Mariah Hay, Chief Experience Officer at Helpscout
September, 2021
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/mariah-hay-chief-experience-officer-at-help-scout/id1503231746?i=1
000533979212

Broadcast - People of Product: Placing Humans Back at The Center of Design //Ep.77
March, 2021
https://www.crema.us/people-of-product/77

Guest Lecturer - Ethics in Digital Product Design
Harvard Business School, Remote, February 2021

Broadcast - Churn FM: Support-Driven Growth to Increase Retention //Ep.97
February, 2021
https://www.churn.fm/episode/how-help-scout-uses-support-driven-growth-to-increase-retention

Speaker - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
Spotlight UX, FITC, Remote, December 2020

Special Guest - Women’s Leadership Camp
Bureau of Digital, Remote, November 2020

Speaker - “Without Trust, You Cannot Lead”
Bureau of Digital, Remote, September 2020

Broadcast - Designed Today: Organizational Design - From 150 to 600 //Ep. 77
June, 2020
🎥 https://lnkd.in/e_yqqKH
🎧 https://lnkd.in/eCeQnhp
💥 https://lnkd.in/eYCDWai

- Page 41 -Item #7.

https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/exploring-human-centered-design-with-mariah-hay-of/id1620907789?i=1000562225295
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/exploring-human-centered-design-with-mariah-hay-of/id1620907789?i=1000562225295
https://open.spotify.com/episode/1QNZtjTeafZAdyTnVhVqss
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zojYppRToQ8
https://productchats.canny.io/exploring-human-centered-design/
https://bit.ly/3KA8Rmf
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/mariah-hay-chief-experience-officer-at-help-scout/id1503231746?i=1000533979212
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/mariah-hay-chief-experience-officer-at-help-scout/id1503231746?i=1000533979212
https://www.crema.us/people-of-product/77
https://www.churn.fm/episode/how-help-scout-uses-support-driven-growth-to-increase-retention
https://lnkd.in/e_yqqKH
https://lnkd.in/eCeQnhp
https://lnkd.in/eYCDWai


Broadcast - Pluralsight All Hands on Tech: 005 - Why Human Centered Design Matters,
December,  2019
https://www.pluralsight.com/blog/software-development/podcast-005-why-human-centered-design

Keynote - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
Design Leadership Days, Seattle, WA, September 2019

Guest Lecturer - Eliminating Bias in Customer Interviews
Harvard Business School, Cambridge, MA, September 2019

Mainstage Presenter - Interview with Google Cloud’s Jason Martin
Pluralsight Live, Salt Lake City, UT, August 2019

Keynote - “Using UX to Your Advantage”
HDI Brazil, Sao Paulo, May 2019

Panel Leader - “The CTO of the Future”
Silicone Slopes Tech Summit, Salt Lake City, UT, Jan 2019

Keynote - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
Revolve, Charleston, SC, November 2018

Guest Lecturer - Eliminating Bias in Customer Interviews
Harvard Business School, Cambridge, MA, September 2018

Speaker and Panelist - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
Enterprise UX, San Francisco, June 2018

Speaker - “First Do No Harm: Ethics in Product Design”
Mind The Product, San Francisco, June 2018
https://www.mindtheproduct.com/first-do-no-harm-by-mariah-hay/

Broadcast - Aurelius Podcast: Episode 19 with Mariah Hay,
Working with Developers, User Research and Doing UX at Scale. May 2018
https://blog.aureliuslab.com/2018/05/03/mariah-hay-enterprise-ux-and-user-research-with-developers/

Workshop Facilitator - Leadership 101: How to Find and Maintain Healthy Teams
Front Workshop Conference, Park City, UT, January 2018

Speaker - “Using UX to Your Advantage”
Fusion Day, Charlotte, NC, Dec 2017

Broadcast - UX and Design Leadership: Inside the Big Design Studio with Mariah Hay
Project UX. October 2017
https://www.projectux.tv/videos/ux-and-design-leadership-inside-the-big-design-studio-with-mariah-hay

- Page 42 -Item #7.

https://www.pluralsight.com/blog/software-development/podcast-005-why-human-centered-design
https://www.mindtheproduct.com/first-do-no-harm-by-mariah-hay/
https://blog.aureliuslab.com/2018/05/03/mariah-hay-enterprise-ux-and-user-research-with-developers/
https://www.projectux.tv/videos/ux-and-design-leadership-inside-the-big-design-studio-with-mariah-hay


Speaker - “SaaSY Content: How Content Becomes the Competitive Advantage for SaaS”
Dallas Big (D)esign, Dallas, September 2017

Speaker, “The PM Misconception: Why Everyone and No One is Prepared to Manage Product”
Web Unleashed, Toronto, September 2017

Keynote, “The PM Misconception: Why Everyone and No One is Prepared to Manage Product”
Front, Salt Lake City, UT, May 2017

Speaker - “Help Wanted: How to Find the Right Experience Job”
Utah Design Week, UXPA Speaker Series, October 2016

Speaker - “Help Wanted: Using UX to Your Advantage”
Web Unleashed, Toronto, September 2016

Day 2 Opening Speaker
Front Conference,  Salt Lake City, UT, May 2016

Speaker - “Confusing UX with UI Can Cost You”
Converge SE, Charlotte, NC, April 2016

Panelist - Startup Bus
Salt Lake City, UT, April 2016

Workshop Instructor - “Wireframes; Designing Software Without Code”
Utah Design Week, UXPA Speaker Series, December 2015

Speaker - “Confusing UX with UI Can Cost You”
Fusion Day (Formerly Blend Conference), Charlotte, NC, September 2015

Speaker - “Help Wanted: How to Find the Right Experience Job”
Dallas Big (D)esign Conference, September 2015

Guest Lecturer - “Confusing UX with UI Can Cost You”
Matrix Resources, Dallas Texas, June 2015

Workshop Instructor - “Bringing Innovation into the Pharmacy”
VHA Pacific Northwest Pharmacy Fall Conference, Portland, OR, September 2012

Guest Lecturer - Design and our Health, Presentation of Thesis
Collaborative Innovation Networks Conference (COINS), Basil, Switzerland, September 2011

Speaker - “Opportunities in Medical Design”

- Page 43 -Item #7.



International Titanium Association Annual Conference, Orlando, October 2010

Private Presentation - A Model for Patient Centered Care: Redesigning the Day Surgery
Experience
SCAD President’s Board of Visitors, Savannah, GA, March 2007

Publications - Academic Papers
Hay, Mariah Ruth, MFA Industrial Design Thesis. Design and Our Health: The Link Between
Comfort, Aesthetics and Healing
2009 (Supervised by Professor Robert Fee, Professor Peter Fossick, and Brian Stonecipher).

Academia

Theses and Projects Supervised
Wells, Elysia Celeste, MFA Design Management Thesis.
From Deep Space to Blue Sky: Using Science Fiction to Inspire Decision Makers and to Help Facilitate
Innovation, 2013 (Supervised jointly with Professor Robert Fee and Professor Christine Miller, Ph.D.).

Kuhn, Artie, MFA Interactive Design and Game Development Thesis.
The Information is the Interface: Leveraging Data Visualization to Transform User Experience, 2013
(Supervised jointly with Department Chair SuAnne Fu and Professor Christopher Morgan).

Rhodes, Kirk, MFA Graphic Design Thesis.
Design Thinking for Educators: Using design thinking in the K-12 setting to teach critical thinking skills,
2014.

Classes Developed and Taught at the Savannah College of Art and Design
SDES 704 OL Applied Theory in Design
Developed and Taught
Graduate-level design thinking and the management of ideas are the cornerstones of reducing theory to
inform practice within organizations. Through a series of presentations, discussions and exemplar projects,
students explore current design practices and the role of theory that informs and guides the management
of the design process. Project management topics include preparation of comprehensive design briefs,
strategic mapping of the design process and contingency planning of the project throughout its execution.

DMGT 720 OL Design Innovation Development and Marketing Strategies
Contributor
This course presents the principles of project planning and implementation critical to forming a profitable,
successful new business entity. Business plan development, technology transfer, offshore sourcing, and
alliances with partners and suppliers are integrated into the student’s design skill set toward the end of
achieving innovation in the marketplace. Moreover, projects undertaken in this course teaches the student

- Page 44 -Item #7.



to develop original design concepts into commercially marketed and sold products, communications,
environments or services.

DMGT 732 OL Facilitating Creative Thinking
Taught
Successful design managers need to be able to create the conditions for creative thinking and innovation
within an organization composed of a wide variety of professionals, most of whom are not familiar with
design thinking. This course prepares students to lead teams in the envisioning of new ideas and solutions
by developing skills in framing, imaging and group interaction as they apply the process of design
conceptualization outside of the familiar domain of studio skills. In a series of simulations and group
exercises, the students acquire experience in idea facilitation through working successfully with
non-design people in a creative mode.

- Page 45 -Item #7.



- Page 46 -Item #7.



- Page 47 -Item #7.



- Page 48 -Item #7.



- Page 49 -Item #7.



- Page 50 -Item #7.



- Page 51 -Item #7.



- Page 52 -Item #7.



- Page 53 -Item #7.



- Page 54 -Item #7.



- Page 55 -Item #7.



- Page 56 -Item #7.



- Page 57 -Item #7.



- Page 58 -Item #7.



- Page 59 -Item #7.



- Page 60 -Item #7.



- Page 61 -Item #7.



- Page 62 -Item #7.



- Page 63 -Item #7.



- Page 64 -Item #7.



- Page 65 -Item #7.



- Page 66 -Item #7.



- Page 67 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Variance:  Requesting to disturb wetland buffer - Solomon and Polk - R-1, William 

Christiansen.

- Page 68 -Item #8.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: January 12
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Applicant needs to clean buried trash from this area and some of the trash is in
the wetland buffer.

Consideration of variance for wetland buffer encroachment

VAR-SOLOMON AND POLK.pdf

- Page 69 -Item #8.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1722269/VAR-SOLOMON_AND_POLK.pdf


- Page 70 -Item #8.



- Page 71 -Item #8.



- Page 72 -Item #8.



- Page 73 -Item #8.



- Page 74 -Item #8.



- Page 75 -Item #8.



- Page 76 -Item #8.



- Page 77 -Item #8.



- Page 78 -Item #8.



- Page 79 -Item #8.



- Page 80 -Item #8.



- Page 81 -Item #8.



- Page 82 -Item #8.



- Page 83 -Item #8.



- Page 84 -Item #8.



- Page 85 -Item #8.



- Page 86 -Item #8.



- Page 87 -Item #8.



- Page 88 -Item #8.



- Page 89 -Item #8.



- Page 90 -Item #8.



- Page 91 -Item #8.



- Page 92 -Item #8.



- Page 93 -Item #8.



- Page 94 -Item #8.



- Page 95 -Item #8.



- Page 96 -Item #8.



- Page 97 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Variance: Requesting expansion of setback encroachment – 817 1st Street – 40019 05001C –

Zone R-T – David Toman

- Page 98 -Item #9.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: January 12
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Applicant wishes to enclose an existing encroaching deck and add a new deck
above.

Consideration of setback variance to expand existing encroachment

VAR-817 1ST ST.pdf

- Page 99 -Item #9.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1722292/VAR-817__1ST_ST.pdf


- Page 100 -Item #9.



- Page 101 -Item #9.



- Page 102 -Item #9.



- Page 103 -Item #9.



- Page 104 -Item #9.



- Page 105 -Item #9.



- Page 106 -Item #9.



- Page 107 -Item #9.



- Page 108 -Item #9.



- Page 109 -Item #9.



- Page 110 -Item #9.



- Page 111 -Item #9.



- Page 112 -Item #9.



- Page 113 -Item #9.



- Page 114 -Item #9.



- Page 115 -Item #9.



- Page 116 -Item #9.



- Page 117 -Item #9.



- Page 118 -Item #9.



- Page 119 -Item #9.



- Page 120 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Text Amendment: Sec. 7-050 – Tree removal requirements – calculation of trees required 

per lot – City of Tybee Island

- Page 121 -Item #10.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: January 12
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

This item amends tree ordinance so that marshlands are not counted when
determining the number of required trees per lot.

Consideration to amend the tree ordinance

TEXT AMEND-TREES.pdf

- Page 122 -Item #10.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1722322/TEXT_AMEND-TREES.pdf


- Page 123 -Item #10.



- Page 124 -Item #10.



- Page 125 -Item #10.



- Page 126 -Item #10.



- Page 127 -Item #10.



- Page 128 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. Agenda Request: Alcohol License Request Critz Tybee Run Fest-Special Event Beer and 

WIne

February 3-4, 2023

- Page 129 -Item #11.



- Page 130 -Item #11.



- Page 131 -Item #11.



- Page 132 -Item #11.



- Page 133 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. Agenda Request: Entertainment License-Zunzi's Operations, LLC dba Zunzibar

- Page 134 -Item #12.



- Page 135 -Item #12.



- Page 136 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

13. Budget Amendment  approval of budget transfer from 100-00-39-1300 to 350-7564-54-

2500 for $16,225 for parking kiosks and from 100-7564-53-1600 for $11,500 for handheld 

ticket writers.

- Page 137 -Item #13.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: January 12
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Approval of budget transfer from 100-00-39-1300 to 350-7564-54-2500 for
$16,225 for parking kiosks and from 100-7564-53-1600 for $11,500 for handheld
ticket writers.

Approval of budget transfer from 100-00-39-1300 to 350-7564-54-2500 for
$16,225 for parking kiosks and from 100-7564-53-1600 for $11,500 for handheld
ticket writers.

Parking Budget Amendment.pdf

- Page 138 -Item #13.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1723919/Parking_Budget_Amendment.pdf


- Page 139 -Item #13.



File Attachments for Item:

14. Resolution 2023-02:  Chatham County to Superintend Municipal Elections

- Page 140 -Item #14.



MAYOR  

Shirley Sessions 

 

CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown, Mayor pro tem 

Jay Burke 

Nancy DeVetter 

Spec Hosti 

Monty Parks 

Brian West 

 

 
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CITY CLERK 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

RESOLUTION 2023-02 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island is scheduled to hold a municipal election 
on Tuesday, November 7, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has contracted with the Board of Elections of Chatham 
County to superintend all municipal elections held within this City; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the opinion of the elected officials of the City of Tybee Island 
that the Chatham County Election Board has performed these duties in a 
superior manner, giving excellent, impartial service to the citizen of Tybee 
Island; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by Mayor and Council of the City of 
Tybee Island in open meeting assembled, that the Board of Elections of 
Chatham County be invited to superintend the City’s upcoming election and 
that the Board also supervise the preparations for said election to be held on 
Tuesday, November 7, 2023 
 
Adopted this 12th day of January 2023. 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Shirley Sessions, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Janet LeViner, MMC 
       Clerk of Council 

- Page 141 -Item #14.



File Attachments for Item:

15. Resolution 2023-03: Qualifying Officer, Tybee Island Municipal Election

- Page 142 -Item #15.



MAYOR  

Shirley Sessions 

 

CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown, Mayor pro tem 

Jay Burke 

Nancy DeVetter 

Spec Hosti 

Monty Parks 

Brian West 

 

 

 
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CITY CLERK 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

RESOLUTION 
2023-03 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island is scheduled to hold a municipal election 
on Tuesday, November 7, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, a Qualifying Officer needs to be appointed to review and accept all 
Notice of Candidacy’s and forward to Chatham County for the Municipal 
Election; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Tybee Island in open meeting assembled, hereby designate Janet LeViner, MMC, 
Clerk of Council, to act as Qualifying Officer for the City in connection with the 
election to be conducted on Tuesday, November 7, 2023. 
 
Adopted this 12th day of January 2023 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Shirley Sessions, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Janet LeViner, MMC 
       Clerk of Council 

- Page 143 -Item #15.



File Attachments for Item:

16. Second Reading:  2023-01, Sec 4-051, Short Term Rentals

- Page 144 -Item #16.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO ESTABLISH AS 

ZONING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS ON 

LOCATIONS WITHIN THE CITY INCLUDING LIMITATIONS BY 

PARTICULAR ZONES, METHODS OF REGULATIONS TO RECOGNIZE 

FEES FOR CONDUCTING SUCH OPERATIONS, OCCUPANCY CHANGES 

AND REGULATORY FEES, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police, home rule powers, and powers under the Georgia Constitution, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island is a municipal corporation authorized 

under Georgia law to enact ordinances addressing land use matters, including zoning 

land use matters, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has conducted numerous workshops and public 

meetings in order to adopt ordinances addressing multiple issues on Short-Term 

Rental properties, and 

 

 WHEREAS, in order that the ordinances addressing Short-Term Rental 

properties may be properly codified and implemented as part of the zoning code of 

the City of Tybee Island, it is necessary and appropriate to revise the prior Short-

Term Rental ordinance in order to transfer provisions thereof into the zoning code 

of the City and to include in such transfer revisions that are pending to the code, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted certain zoning amendments 

dealing with Short-Term Rental properties and locations, including the ordinance 

previously identified “Z-2”, and such ordinances include definitions, notice of 

- Page 145 -Item #16.



 

abandonment of nonconforming uses, allowances and limits on new permits in zones 

R-1, R-1-B, and R-2, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City may continue to work to improve the ordinances, and  

 

 WHEREAS, additional public hearings will be conducted in connection with 

consideration of this ordinance in order to accomplish the intention of the zoning 

procedure law and all other applicable considerations,  

  

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended so as to provide 

as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 

  

 The provisions of the ordinance and sections previously codified at Sec. 34-

260 through Sec. 34-272, with the express addition of Section 2 below as Sec. 34-

272 are hereby adopted as part of the zoning ordinances of the City and to be 

designated as Section 4-051, entitled “Short-Term Rentals”. 

 

SECTION 2 

 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid 

or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in 

no way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby 

declared as the intent of the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance 

would have been adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been 

included herein. 

 

SECTION 3 
 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

- Page 146 -Item #16.



 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2022. 

 
ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 20______. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

- Page 147 -Item #16.



 

 

572-582 Zoning Amendment for STR 11-29-2022 

572-582 Zoning Amendment for STR 10-25-2022 

Section 4-051.  Short-Term Rentals 

Sec. 4-051.1. Purpose and intent. 

(a) The purpose of this article is to establish regulations for the use of residential dwelling units as short-term  
rentals and to ensure the collection and payment of hotel/motel fees and occupation tax certificate fees.  

(b) "Short-term rental" means an accommodation for guests where, in exchange for compensation, a residential 
dwelling unit is provided for lodging for a period of time less than 30 consecutive days. Such use may or may 
not include an on-site manager. For the purposes of this definition, a residential dwelling shall include all 
housing types. This is also identified as "STR". This shall exclude bed and breakfast accommodations as they 
are currently defined by the City of Tybee's land development code. However, bed and breakfast 
establishments are required to have occupational tax certificates, and to pay taxes and fees as required by 
law or ordinance.  

(c) An owner shall be required to designate an agent for any short-term rental unit, whose responsibility it will 
be to comply with the requirements of this section on behalf of the owner. The owner may be the agent.  

(d) "Short-term rental agent" is a local contact person designated by the owner who shall be available at all 
times to respond to complaints regarding the condition, operation, or conduct of occupants of the STR. Such 
person is customarily present at a location within the city for purposes of transacting business, and is 
responsible for taking remedial action to resolve issues within one hour.  

(e) The owner or agent shall not be relieved of any personal responsibility or personal liability for 
noncompliance with any applicable law, rule or regulation pertaining to the use and occupancy of the 
residential dwellings unit as a short-term rental unit.  

(Ord. No. 2016-07B , 5-26-2016; Ord. No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021) 

Sec. 4-051.2.  Application. 

(a) Within 90 days of the effective date of the ordinance from which this article is derived, no person shall rent, 
lease or otherwise exchange for compensation all or any portion of a dwelling unit as a short-term rental, as 
defined in section 34-260, without the owner or rental agent first obtaining an occupation tax certificate and 
identifying the location of each STR with the city.  

(b) The city must be notified in writing within seven days when there is a change in property ownership, 
management, agent or emergency contact. Failure to do so will void any permitted use as an STR.  

(c) The application shall be furnished on a form specified by the city manager, accompanied by a non-refundable 
occupational tax and regulatory fee. Such application should include:  

(1) The complete street address and property identification number (PIN) of the STR;  

(2) Ownership, including the name, address, e-mail and telephone number of each person or entity with 
an ownership interest in the property;  

(3) The number of bedrooms, the maximum occupancy and the number and location of off-street parking 
spaces on the premises and any off-premises parking applicable;  

Occupancy of any short-term rental property or unit shall be established in connection with the 
application for every short-term rental permit with the occupancy for overnight usage limited to two 
adults per bedroom plus two additional adults for the dwelling identified as existing on the property. 
Any person over the age of 15 years old will be considered an adult for purposes of this section. 
Occupancies beyond the established limits in the permit shall be a violation of this section;  

- Page 148 -Item #16.



 

 

 

(4) The name, address and telephone number of a short-term rental agent or local emergency contact if 
applicable; and  

(5) Any other information that this chapter requires the owner to provide to the city, such as zoning 
designation, as part of the identification for a short-term rental. The city manager or his or her 
designee shall have the authority to obtain additional information from the applicant as necessary to 
achieve the objectives of this chapter.  

(6) The emergency contact number required.  

(7) The property shall be covered by a homeowner’s or other structural coverage as well as liability 
coverage and the insurance declaration shall list the unit as the rental property.  The applicant shall 
acknowledge as part of the application the insurance requirement and agrees that within 30 days of 
receipt of an STR to supply to the city a copy of a conforming insurance declaration. 

(d) The certification form pursuant to this section shall be processed and added to a database to be kept by staff 
or the manager’s designee listing STR unit information and any citations that occur. The city shall notify the 
owner and agent of any instances that result in a citation for a code violation or other legal infraction.  

(e) Owner or rental agent for a short-term rental shall submit, on an annual basis, an occupational tax certificate 
to the City of Tybee Island.  

(f) All information supplied by the applicant to the city or the manager’s designee shall be subject to verification 
as hereinafter provided. 

(Ord. No. 2016-07B , 5-26-2016; Ord. No. 09-2019 , § 1, 5-9-2019; Ord. No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021; Ord. No. 2021-29 , 
§ I, 11-10-2021) 

Sec. 4-051.3.  Regulatory fee/renewal. 

(a) The short-term  rental application shall be accompanied by an initial regulatory fee and be subject to an 
annual fee every January 1 thereafter, as established by the mayor and city council.  

An application, initial or renewal, is valid when completed and filed along with payment of the application 
regulatory fee set forth below. The fee shall be due January 1 of each year for short-term rental purposes 
and, if not paid within 90 days thereof, shall be subject to the delinquency and penalty provisions of section 
58-163, as applicable, to occupation tax/business license provisions as well as the revocation of any right to 
use the unit for short-term rental purposes until payment of the penalties and fee. In addition to the 
regulatory fee license as specified herein, the applicant shall also pay the required occupation tax each year.  

(b) Each property or unit shall be issued a unique property identification number, which is not the same as the 
“PIN” assigned by the county for a parcel of land.  

(c) Failure to apply and/or identify as prescribed by this law will result in a fine of $500.00 for each month that 
the unit continues to operate without compliance.  

(d) The annual identification of a unit and the regulatory fee are not transferrable.  

(e) In the event a property owner changes the management company it uses, the unit is to be re-identified by 
notice to the city.  

(f) Each applicant will pay a regulatory fee that is determined based upon the occupancy of the property to 
which the short-term rental application applies. Every applicant will pay a $200.00 base fee. In addition to 
the base fee, each applicant will be responsible for an additional occupancy fee based upon the rental unit's 
occupancy. As part of the application, the applicant shall disclose the total occupancy for the rental unit. A 
fee will be charged for each person under the tiers below:  

Total occupancy of one to five persons—$10.00 per person.  

Total occupancy of six to ten persons—$15.00 per person.  

- Page 149 -Item #16.



 

 

 

Total occupancy of ten or more persons—$20.00 per person.  

(Ord. No. 16-2017-B , § 1, 12-19-2017; Ord. No. 09-2019 , § 2, 5-9-2019; Ord. No. 2019-15 , § 1, 11-11-2019; Ord. 
No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021; Ord. No. 23-2021 , § I, 9-9-2021) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 16-2017-B , § 1, adopted Dec. 19, 2017, amended § 34-262 in its entirety to read as 
herein set out. Former § 34-262 pertained to registration fee/renewal, and derived from Ord. No. 2016-07B , 
adopted May 26, 2016; and Ord. No. 06-2017-A , § 1, adopted Mar. 9, 2017.  

Sec. 4-051.4.  Good neighbor policy. 

The city shall make available on its website a list of STR good neighbor policies which STR agents must share 
with their clients, owners, and guests.  

(Ord. No. 2016-07B , 5-26-2016; Ord. No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021) 

Sec. 4-051.5.  Signs. 

All one- and two-family STR units shall post a sign that shall be visible and legible from the address side of the 
street listing emergency contact name and phone number. The emergency contact name and number shall be the 
STR agent as required by section 34-260(d) unless otherwise specified and approved by the city staff and any rental 
agency involved. Such sign shall not be less than 18 inches by 24 inches and shall not exceed 24 inches by 24 
inches. The purpose of the required sign is to enable officers and third parties to identify appropriate contacts for 
issues with the property and/or the occupants and, therefore the sign shall be located in such a location that it 
faces the street which is listed as the real property address or otherwise located at such location as approved by 
staff consistent with that purpose. The view of the sign shall not be obstructed by fencing, cars, vegetation, etc.  

Multi-family units shall post a sign which shall be visible and legible from a publicly accessible area outside 
the unit listing the required emergency contact name and phone number. Signs for multi-family units shall be eight 
and one-half inches by 11 inches. All such signs shall be located no further than four feet from the outer most edge 
of the front entry door or otherwise located at such location as approved by city staff consistent with that purpose. 
Multi-family units may have one additional sign on the exterior of the property which complies with the standards 
of the one and two family STR unit for the purposes of advertising, branding and way finding.  

To the extent that the requirements herein are inconsistent with the sign ordinance the provisions hereof 
shall control in the case of short-term rental properties and shall supersede any inconsistent provisions of 
homeowner association agreements or policies or condominium association agreements or policies pertaining to 
signage.  

(Ord. No. 2016-07B , 5-26-2016; Ord. No. 16-2017-B , § 1, 12-19-2017; Ord. No. 2019-15 , § 1, 11-11-2019; Ord. No. 
2020-02 , § 1, 2-27-2020; Ord. No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021) 

- Page 150 -Item #16.



 

 

 

Sec. 4-051.6.  Unique location identification number required. 

Each short-term rental property or unit is to have a unique location identification number, as referenced in 
34-262(b). Any advertising, promotion or notice of availability of a property or unit for a short-term rental 
occupancy shall include the location identification number or numbers for every available property or unit which is 
the subject matter of the advertisement, promotion or notice. The phrase "advertisement, promotion or notice" as 
used herein shall include, but not be limited to, brochures, marketing material and any online, digital, social media 
or published promotion of any such property or unit. The failure to include such number as required herein shall 
be a violation hereof and punishable as otherwise provided in this code.  

(Ord. No. 2019-15 , § 1, 11-11-2019; Ord. No. 2021-01 , 1-28-2021) 

 

Sec. 4-051.7. Compliance. 
 

(a) It shall be the responsibility of the owner or agent to pay all required taxes required by chapter 58, 
article IV, room excise tax. 

 
(Ord. No. 2016-07B, 5-26-2016) 
 

Sec. 4-051.8. Homestead Exemption/Estate Planning. 

For a property location that has been continuously in individual or joint ownership by natural person(s) for 
a period of at least five (5) years and which has been homesteaded for purposes of any of the City 
ordinances, (Tybee Code Section 58-30 and/or 58-33) such owner, may elect, upon proper application and 
permitting, to operate as a STR and to include the property as an authorized STR for a period of up to three 
(3) years.  Further, an estate of a deceased owner who qualified as stated above regarding ownership and 
homestead may have a one-time opportunity within one year of the death of the decedent to make the 
election provided for herein to secure an STR permit for a period of three (3) years. 

 

Sec. 4-051.9.  Additional Compliance and Enforcement of Requirements. 

(a) In the event taxes, license fees, fines or other assessments relating to the operation or ownership of a STR 
property remain unpaid or if there is evidence of improper advertising of the STR property or improper 
conduct at the STR property violating any of the below City ordinances or rules, notice of these deficiencies 
will be sent to the STR owner or the owner’s designated agent.  Ordinances which will result in a notice to 
the owner or the owner’s agent are:  failure to comply with marketing restrictions as provided in Subsection 
b. hereof. Following notice to the owner or owner’s designated agent of the deficiency and a failure to 
address such deficiency within 30 days of receipt of the notice of deficiency, following notice and an 
opportunity to be heard there may be a determination of abandonment of the permit for a STR use and 
such permit may terminate and not be renewed. 

(b) Any marketing or advertisement relating to the use of a Short-Term Rental location which markets 
occupancy beyond or in excess of the occupancy contained in the application for the Short-Term Rental 
permit, tax certificate or license, as required, shall be a violation of this ordinance.  This violation may result 
in the permit being revoked, suspended or addressed as found appropriate by the City Official and/or the 
Mayor and Council.  

(c) The refusal to participate in or cooperate with a verification process as provided hereafter shall be a 
violation of this ordinance and any intentional misstatements or inaccuracies contained in the application 
including the insurance obligation shall be a violation of this ordinance subject to penalties as provided 
above. 

  

- Page 151 -Item #16.



 

 

 
 

Sec. 4-051.10.  Right to Require Verification of Compliance. 

The verification program will be conducted under a policy to be established by the Mayor and Council and 
shall specifically cover all ordinance compliance requirements and obligations of the applicant, including, 
but not limited to, insurance requirements, zoning designation, parking site plan and occupancy. 

Sec. 4-051.11.  Transfers. 

Upon a bona fide transfer of ownership of a properly permitted location, the new owner, when 
requirements for an application are satisfied, will be granted a permit for the same location. 

 

Sec. 4-051.12.  Severability. 
 
 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court 
of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  
It is hereby declared as the intent of the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance would have been 
adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been included herein. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Secs 4-051.13 – 4-051.99. Reserved. 

 

 

- Page 152 -Item #16.



File Attachments for Item:

17. Bubba Hughes:  Development Plans and Agreement for 708 Butler

- Page 153 -Item #17.



AGREEMENT 

 

 COMES NOW, CFK Properties, LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability Company, having an 

address of 15 Lake Street, Suite 230, Savannah, Georgia 31411 and whose Member Manager is 

Christopher Koncul (collectively “Contractor”), and The City of Tybee Island, Georgia, a 

Municipal Corporation, having an address of 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328 

(“City”), and 

WHEREAS, Contractor is planning to improve certain real property located within the City 

and to create a residential subdivision on the property now known as 708 Butler Avenue, Tybee 

Island, Georgia (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Contractor and the City have previously entered into a Deed of Conservation 

Easement which provides for, among other things, a dedication to the City of Tybee Island by 

Contractor pursuant to a preliminary plan attached hereto as Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, the Deed of Conservation of Easement is attached hereto as Exhibit “B; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor has further provided and agreed for the Property, Contractor, and 

owners to be bound by covenants applicable to the continuing obligations of the Contractor and 

purchasers of the lots within the subdivision once developed.  A copy of such covenants is attached 

hereto as Exhibit “C”; and 

WHEREAS, Christopher Koncul has entered into an agreement with the Historic Savannah 

Foundation, Inc. regarding the preservation of an existing residence on the property and the Tybee 

Island Historical Society has consented to that agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”; 

and 

WHEREAS, Contractor has previously delineated and marked the approved access road to 

be installed on the property as generally depicted on the preliminary plan; and 

- Page 154 -Item #17.



WHEREAS, Contractor is presently seeking permits and approvals of necessary planned 

improvement of property impacted by or requiring state agency approvals, and 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of Ten and 00/100 ($10.00) Dollars and 

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, the undersigned Parties agree in order to document and clarify the recording of the 

documents referred to herein and to insure the property is developed pursuant to the agreement of 

the parties and the approved preliminary plan and ultimate final plan, Contractor and the City 

hereby agree as follows: 

1. Contractor is improving and developing the Property as a major subdivision which 

under City ordinances must go through multiple steps for final development.  Among 

other provisions, Sec. 5-130, a preliminary plat has previously been approved 

delineating the location of lot lines, the existing house, and planned improvements to 

the Property.  The Parties agree that the Property will be developed in accordance with 

the preliminary plan to the fullest extent possible. 

2. The Deed of Conservation Easement pertaining to the Property between the City and 

Contractor/CFK Properties, LLC is to be recorded prior to the commencement of tree 

trimming, pruning or removal and/or the installation of infrastructure, once permitted 

by appropriate agencies.  The trees will be marked as to the intention of 

trimming/pruning by ribbons in advance of any trimming or cutting.  Trees to be 

removed will be marked by ribbons coded for removal.  Arborists will be present when 

the cutting, trimming, and pruning is being conducted and when intended tree removal 

is accomplished.  The Parties agree that transparency with regard to the approved tree 

plan is critical to the successful development of property. 

3. At all appropriate steps in the development process, an announcement of the permitting 

and intended development will be made at a public meeting of the City. 

- Page 155 -Item #17.



4. Each of the exhibits is incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement.  Contractor 

agrees to develop in accordance with exhibits and to construct all improvements and 

alterations consistently with the exhibits and permits to be issued.   

5. Contractor has entered into an agreement with the Historic Savannah Foundation, Inc. 

which is consented to by the Tybee Island Historical Society and such document will 

be recorded prior to infrastructure installation. 

6. There will be a restriction on the final plat that development of residences will be 

limited to single family homes. 

7. All terms of the agreements referred to herein shall be complied with and the Contractor 

will not be required to comply with any other conditions except such which may be 

imposed by written addendum hereto or addressed by agreement as part of the 

development process; or as required by City or Chatham County ordinances, and/or 

rules and regulations of the State of Georgia.  There will be no sales of lots within the 

intended development until such time as all agreements attached as exhibits and the 

final plat are recorded. 

8. To the fullest extent possible, all obligations of Contractor under this Agreement and 

the incorporated exhibits shall survive completion of the subdivision and the recording 

of the final plat and all exhibits hereto. 

9. All exhibits to the attached exhibits are to be attached thereto prior to recording, and 

all blanks in the exhibits, including dates are to be inserted as appropriate. 

  

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

  

- Page 156 -Item #17.



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have signed and sealed this instrument this 

_____ day of _____________________, 20_____. 

 

THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA CFK PROPERTIES, LLC/ 

CHRISTOPHER KONCUL 

 

 

By:_____________________________           By:______________________________ 

      Shirley Sessions, Mayor      Christopher Koncul, Individually, 

        and as Managing Member of  

CFK PROPERTIES, LLC 

 

 

Attest:___________________________            Attest:_________________________ 

Jan LeViner, Clerk              Authorized Signature 

 

 

Reviewed and Approved by: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Edward M. Hughes, City Attorney 

 

- Page 157 -Item #17.



File Attachments for Item:

18. Bubba Hughes:  Robert Bryson:  Release Agreement

- Page 158 -Item #18.



- Page 159 -Item #18.



- Page 160 -Item #18.



- Page 161 -Item #18.



- Page 162 -Item #18.



- Page 163 -Item #18.



File Attachments for Item:

22. Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List

- Page 164 -Item #22.



DATE ITEM RESPONSIBILITY STATUS

12/8/22

CM to set meeting with  Chatham ES on 

response times moving forward Shawn

12/8/22

Workshop needed to discuss Entertainment 

Licenses Shawn

12/8/22

Dogs on the Beach:  more information 

needed and bring back to Mayor and Council

Shawn

12/8/22

Resolution to Public Safety Committee for 

recommendations and review re:  Fire 

Inspector Shawn

- Page 165 -Item #22.



File Attachments for Item:

23. Jan LeViner:  Call to Election and Public Notice - Qualifying Notice

- Page 166 -Item #23.



MAYOR  

Shirley Sessions 

 

CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown Mayor pro tem 

Jay Burke 

Nancy DeVetter 

Michael “Spec” Hosti 

Monty Parks 

Brian West 

 

 
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CITY CLERK 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

ELECTION NOTICE 
TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

CALL FOR ELECTION 
QUALIFYING NOTICE 

 
Notice is hereby given to the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia that the General Municipal 
Election will be held November 7, 2023 between the hours of 7:00AM and 7:00PM for the 
election of the Mayor and three (3) Council Members. 

 
POLLING PLACES FOR THIS ELECTION 

 
4-10:  Burke Day Public Safety Building 
 78 Van Horne Street 
 
4-11: Tybee School Cafeteria 
 204 Fifth Street 
 
Qualifying begins Tuesday, August 22, 2023.  Hours of qualification are 8:30AM – 4:30PM 
each day and closes Thursday, August 24, 2023 at 4:30PM.  Qualification will be held at: 
 Tybee Island City Hall 
 Modular “A” 
 Clerk’s Office 
 4th Street 
 Tybee Island, GA  31328 
 
Qualifying Fees: 
 Mayor:            $252.00 
 Council Members:    $144.00 
 
 

 
Janet LeViner, MMC 

Clerk of Council 
City of Tybee Island, GA 

 

- Page 167 -Item #23.



MAYOR  

Shirley Sessions 

 

CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown, Mayor pro tem 

Jay Burke 

Nancy DeVetter 

Spec Hosti 

Monty Parks 

Brian West  
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CITY CLERK 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
 

Notice is hereby given that according to the Georgia Municipal Election Code, the City of 
Tybee Island is required to post the qualifying fees for the City of Tybee Island’s Municipal 
Election to be held November 7, 2023.  There is a Mayor and three (3) Councilmember 
seats up for election and will be for a four (4) year term.  As required by the State Law, 
the qualifying fee for Mayor and Councilmember is 3% of their salary: 
   

Mayor   $8,400 $252 qualifying fee 
  Councilmember $4,800 $144 qualifying fee 
 

 
 

Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

City of Tybee Island 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

- Page 168 -Item #23.


	Top
	Item #1.	In Memoriam - 2022
	In Memoriam

	Item #2.	Jaime Spear:  Employee of the 3rd Quarter - Joel Rodriguez, Water/Sewer Department
	Item #3.	Jaime Spear:  Employee of the 4th Quarter - Danielle Bucher, Finance Department
	Item #4.	Special City Council Meeting Minutes, December 21, 2022
	20221221Minutes

	Item #5.	Minutes, City Council Meeting, December 8, 2022
	20221208Minutes

	Item #6.	Attachments to Minutes, December 8, 2022
	stille
	manomet

	Item #7.	Planning Commission - 3 seats open
	harrell
	Hay_Planning Commission Application 2023.docx
	20221206_HayCV
	planning commssion 2023 12-26
	livingston
	long
	monroe
	matkowski
	nooney

	Item #8.	Variance:  Requesting to disturb wetland buffer - Solomon and Polk - R-1, William Christiansen.
	Wetland Variance Solomon and Polk

	Item #9.	Variance: Requesting expansion of setback encroachment – 817 1st Street – 40019 05001C – Zone R-T – David Toman
	Setback Variance 817 1st Street

	Item #10.	Text Amendment: Sec. 7-050 – Tree removal requirements – calculation of trees required per lot – City of Tybee Island
	Tree Ordinance Text Amendment

	Item #11.	Agenda Request: Alcohol License Request Critz Tybee Run Fest-Special Event Beer and WIne
	Agenda Request Critz Tybee Run Fest 2023

	Item #12.	Agenda Request: Zunzi's Operations, LLC dba Zunzibar Entertainment License
	Agenda Request- Zunzi's Entertainment

	Item #13.	Budget Amendment  approval of budget transfer from 100-00-39-1300 to 350-7564-54-2500 for $16,225 for parking kiosks and from 100-7564-53-1600 for $11,500 for handheld ticket writers.
	Budget Amendment Parking Department

	Item #14.	Resolution 2023-02:  Chatham County to Superintend Municipal Elections
	Resolution Chatham County

	Item #15.	Resolution 2023-03: Qualifying Officer, Tybee Island Municipal Election
	Resolution Qualifying Office

	Item #16.	Second Reading:  2023-01, Sec 4-051, Short Term Rentals
	Ordinance 2023-01  Zoning Amendment for STR Final 11-30-22

	Item #17.	Bubba Hughes:  Development Plans and Agreement for 708 Butler
	AGREEMENT 20230106 Koncul

	Item #18.	Bubba Hughes:  Robert Bryson:  Release Agreement
	Settlement Agreement - Signed by Bryson 12-14-2022

	Item #19.	Barry Brown:  Tybee Island Fire Department - Firehouse Multi-Purpose Building
	Item #20.	Jay Burke:  Main Street Appreciation for Christmas Initiatives/Polar Plunge Efforts
	Item #21.	Monty Parks:  Marine Science Bathrooms and Manual traffic control at Johnny Mercer and Highway 80
	Item #22.	Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List
	Action Item List

	Item #23.	Jan LeViner:  Call to Election and Public Notice - Qualifying notice
	Call to Election
	Public Notice - Qualifying Fees

	Bottom

